THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Circuit

The Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000671

RECEIVED
FEB 21 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Tammy C. RichardsonRespondent

v.

Halcyon Real Estate Services, LLP and McCabe, Trotter &
Beverly, P.C. Defendants

Of whom McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, P.C. is theAppellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr., Esq.
Justin P. Novak, Esq.
John W. Fletcher, Esq.
BARNWELL WHALEY PATTERSON &
HELMS, LLC
288 Meeting Street, Suite 200 (29401)29401
P.O. Drawer H
Charleston, SC 29402
(843) 577-7700 Fax: (843) 577-7708

and

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. *Does this Court possess jurisdiction to hear this appeal?*

SUGGESTED ANSWER: *Yes.*

II. *Did the trial judge err in finding that Plaintiff's counsel complied with S.C.R. Civ. P. 30(j)(8) where he did not specifically identify documents he planned to use in depositions at least two days in advance, but rather generally referenced all the many thousands of documents produced in discovery?*

SUGGESTED ANSWER: *Yes.*

III. *Did the trial judge err in finding that Defendant's counsel violated S.C.R. Civ. P. 30(j)(8) by privately meeting with client to discuss documents not identified by Plaintiff's counsel and instructing witnesses not to answer questions about such private meetings?*

SUGGESTED ANSWER: *Yes.*

IV. *Did the trial judge err in finding that Defendant's counsel violated S.C.R. Civ. P. 30 by failing to explain reasons for interrupting deposition and meeting with witnesses?*

SUGGESTED ANSWER: *Yes.*

V. *Did the trial judge err in imposing sanctions on Defendant?*

SUGGESTED ANSWER: *Yes.*

VI. *Did the trial judge err in finding that Defendant's counsel did not have a legitimate reason for having a witness depart from a deposition at 3:00?*

SUGGESTED ANSWER: *Yes.*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

This is an appeal from the trial court's imposition of discovery sanctions on Defendant/Appellant McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, PC ("MTB").

This action began in August 2015 with the filing of a foreclosure Complaint in the Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas by the Southern Magnolia Homeowners' Association ("HOA") (which is not a party to this appeal) against Tammy Richardson ("Richardson" or "Plaintiff"), who was a member of the HOA. That case was styled *Southern Magnolia Homeowners' Association v. Tammy C. Richardson*, No. 2015-CP-18-1575. Richardson filed a Third-Party Complaint in the foreclosure action on October 29, 2015, naming MTB and Halcyon Real Estate Services, LLC as Third-Party Defendants. (*See* R. pp. 23-39). Specifically, Richardson asserted a claim for violation of the federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692, *et seq.* ("FDCPA"), against MTB. MTB filed an Answer to the Third-Party Complaint on December 21, 2015. (*See* R. pp. 40-49). Lawyer Andrew Countryman, who is not a party to this appeal, was retained to defend MTB from Richardson's third-party claims.

On March 7, 2016, MTB filed a Motion to Strike/Dismiss/Sever the Third-Party Complaint. On June 1, 2016, Judge Edgar W. Dickson denied the motion to dismiss, but severed the claims against MTB and Halcyon. (*See* R. pp. 1-7). The court then assigned a new case number to Richardson's third-party claims against MTB and Halcyon, No. 2016-CP-18-1001. This is the case number presently on appeal.

The Sanctions Order at issue imposes sanctions against MTB based on the conduct of its lawyer, Andrew Countryman, at two depositions: (a) Haylen Gatling; and (b) Sheri Self. Specifically, on April 4, 2019, the Honorable Maite Murphy entered an Order Granting Richardson's Motion for Sanctions for Deposition Misconduct and Denying Defendant's Motions for Protection (Self and Gatling) ("Sanctions Order"). (*See generally* R. pp. 8-17). On April 15, 2019, Defendant MTB filed a Motion to Reconsider relating to the Sanctions Order. (*See* R. pp. 978-81). The trial judge denied that motion on April 26, 2019. (*See* R. pp. 18-19). For the reasons

that follow, Judge Murphy erred in imposing sanctions on MTB.

B. The Depositions at Issue

1. The Deposition Notices and Communications Before the Depositions

On November 9, 2018, Justin Kahn, Ms. Richardson's lawyer, served a Notice of Videotaped Deposition of Haylen Gatling ("Gatling Notice"), a legal assistant at MTB. (*See* R. pp. 815-19). The Gatling Notice included the following language concerning documents that Richardson might use at the deposition:

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that, pursuant to Rule 30(j)(8), SCRPC, counsel for the Plaintiff hereby identifies and reserves the right to use any documents produced or made available in discovery by any party during this deposition, and hereby gives notice of the Plaintiff's intent to question the witness regarding all documents produced, identified or made available by any party during the course of discovery, as well as those obtained pursuant to subpoena or records request.

(*See* R. pp. 815-16). The Gatling Notice set the deposition for January 15, 2019, in Columbia, South Carolina.

On November 13, 2018, Mr. Kahn served a Notice of Videotaped Deposition of Sheri Self ("Self Notice"), a former MTB legal assistant. (*See* R. pp. 813-14). The Self Notice included the same endorsement regarding South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 30(j)(8) ("Rule 30(j)(8)") and making a blanket reference to all material exchanged in discovery. (*See id.*). The Self Notice set the deposition for January 24, 2019, in Macon, Georgia.

The parties have exchanged over 100,000 documents in this class action case. However, neither the Gatling Notice nor the Self Notice identified any specific document pursuant to Rule 30(j)(8). Instead, they purported to give notice that Plaintiff intended to question the witness regarding *all* of the many thousands of documents "produced, identified, or made available by any party during the course of discovery" or obtained pursuant to subpoena or records request.

On November 14, 2018 (days after receiving the Notices and more than two months before the depositions), Andrew Countryman, counsel for MTD, wrote to Mr. Kahn that the Gatling Notice and the Self Notice did not comply with Rule 30(j)(8) and asked for a meaningful

identification of documents he planned to use:

The purpose of the Rule is to avoid surprise and wasting time during a deposition. Thousands and thousands of documents have been produced in discovery in this case. Blanketly referring to all of them does not comport with the letter or spirit of the Rule. Unless you identify or produce specific material you actually plan to use in the depositions two days beforehand, *I reserve the right to discuss material presented to the witnesses privately during the deposition(s).*

(See R. pp. 820-22 (emphasis added)). Mr. Kahn did not respond to this letter over the course of nearly two months. Instead, at 6:31 p.m. on Friday, January 11, 2019 (just days before Gatling's deposition set for the upcoming Tuesday), Mr. Kahn emailed Mr. Countryman stating "these are some of the documents we may use in addition to those previously identified for the depositions next week." (See R. p. 792). Attached to this email was a 68-page spreadsheet listing thousands more documents. (See *id.*; R. pp. 823-890). Mr. Countryman responded on January 15, 2019 that the massive 68-page spreadsheet did not satisfy Rule 30(j)(8):

You sent a 68-page spreadsheet referencing the "beginning" bates numbers of approximately 3,000 documents. You also referred to "documents previously identified." The only document you identified before included everything exchanged in discovery. As noted in my 11/14/18 letter, this is insufficient to identify documents under Rule 30(j)(8). Referencing over 3,000 pages of material in a spreadsheet is no better.

It would be objectively impossible for anyone to use that many documents in either of or both of these deposition[s]. I still have no idea what material you truly plan to use in the depositions. This appears to be a sad attempt to obtain soundbites from unsophisticated (non-lawyer) using documents with which they are unfamiliar. It is certainly not a good faith effort to identify documents under the Rule.

(See R. pp. 891-92).

On January 21, 2019, Mr. Kahn emailed Mr. Countryman, attaching a 67-page document listing thousands of documents that he might use in Ms. Self's deposition. (See R. pp. 796-97 & 893-959). Mr. Kahn noted that he did not believe that even this list was required to comply with his Rule 30(j)(8) obligations.

2. Gatling Deposition

Ms. Gatling was the first of the two witnesses deposed. Mr. Kahn examined the witness,

and Mr. Countryman represented her. Directly before the deposition began, Mr. Countryman reiterated to Mr. Kahn that his blanket reference to all material exchanged in discovery and 68-page spreadsheet did not satisfy Rule 30(j)(8):

I spoke with Mr. Kahn about these issues the morning of Ms. Gatling's deposition and said his identification of thousands of pages of material was insufficient to give me any idea as to what he actually planned to use with the witness. I also said I would be happy to review the actual exhibits with her shortly before the deposition started to avoid interrupting the deposition to review the documents with her. Mr. Kahn refused to provide documents, provide an explanation or discuss the issue further.

(See R. pp. 792-93). The deposition proceeded until lunch with Mr. Kahn presenting no substantive exhibits. (See R. p. 793). When the deposition broke for lunch, Mr. Countryman again asked Mr. Kahn for the exhibits so he could review them with the witness during the break and avoid interrupting the deposition, but Mr. Kahn refused. (See *id.*).

Mr. Countryman then wrote Mr. Kahn another letter on the issue summarizing the events leading up to the Gatling deposition and highlighting the fact that his refusal to identify material he planned to use in the deposition was an effort to obtain an unfair advantage:

It would be objectively impossible for anyone to use that many documents in either of or both of these deposition. I still have no idea what material you truly plan to use in the depositions. This appears to be a sad attempt to obtain soundbites from unsophisticated (non-lawyer) using documents with which they are unfamiliar. It is certainly not a good faith effort to identify documents under the Rule.

(See R. pp. 891-92). Mr. Kahn has never denied this and only responded that the Rules do not require him to do anything other than refer to all material produced in discovery.

When the deposition resumed after lunch, Mr. Kahn showed Ms. Gatling a document. Mr. Countryman broke the deposition in accordance with Rule 30(j)(8) to review that document with the witness. (See R. p. 665:13-22). Mr. Countryman then described, on the record how the Gatling Notice failed to satisfy Rule 30(j)(8):

You noticed this deposition I think in the first week of November of 2018. The week after that, I sent you a letter indicating that the notice was insufficient to identify documents under 30(j)(8) as the rule is intended to identify documents that you'll use in a deposition so that a witness won't be surprised. Instead, your notice

identified basically everything that had been exchanged in discovery. I didn't get any response to that letter. I then received an email Friday at 6:30, again referencing every document in discovery, and including a 68-page spreadsheet of different -- a list of different documents.

I don't think that's sufficient under the rule. I talked to you about that this morning before the deposition and invited you to provide me with documents so I could go over them with her. You didn't.

You did that again before lunch, and I gave you a letter at lunch. We had about an hour lunch, and I gave you that same opportunity, which you declined.

So I'm going to talk to the witness about this within a reasonable period of time as the rule provides.

(*See R. pp. 667:6-668:3*). Mr. Countryman further noted that "this case involves tens of thousands, if not hundreds of thousands, of documents. I had no idea what documents would be used in this deposition. Identification beforehand didn't give me that idea. That's all I've been asking for. I'm not trying to be unreasonable. I'm not trying to be obtuse, or delay things." (*See R. p. 669:3-9*).

At that point, Mr. Kahn provided Mr. Countryman with the material he planned to use (15 exhibits), and Mr. Countryman discussed them with the witness. (*See R. pp. 668-69*). When the deposition resumed, Mr. Kahn asked Ms. Gatling what she had talked about with Mr. Countryman; Mr. Countryman instructed Ms. Gatling not to answer on the basis of attorney-client privilege:

Q What did you all talk about?

MR. COUNTRYMAN: Don't answer that.

MR. KAHN: Okay. We'll let the judge take it up. . . .

MR. COUNTRYMAN: Can I make a quick statement for the record before you ask your question? He asked what you talked about. I directed you not to answer on the grounds of attorney-client privilege. We discussed the documents that you were given just a few minutes ago. Those are the ones that were not, in my view, previously properly identified under Rule 30(j)(8). That's something that he and I can discuss at another time. But I'm directing you not to answer that question under attorney-client privilege grounds.

(*See R. pp. 669:22-25, 670:8-17*). Mr. Kahn did not limit the question to determine whether

Mr. Countryman had done anything improper off the record to influence her testimony.¹

Mr. Countryman did nothing to interfere with Mr. Kahn's ability to fully and completely depose Ms. Gatling. The deposition began at 10:00 a.m. and lasted until 6:25 p.m. that evening. (*See R.* pp. 484 & 776). Moreover, in an effort to be civil and fair to opposing counsel, Mr. Countryman allowed Mr. Kahn's co-counsel, Mary Leigh Arnold, to also examine the Ms. Gatling without objection. (*See id.*, at 236:19-23).

As required by Rule 30, on January 21, 2019, MTB filed a Motion for Protective Order (Deposition of Haylen Gatling). In that Motion, MTB asserted:

Plaintiff's identification of material under Rule 30(j)(8) did not substantively comply with the Rule, nor was it timely under it. Because Plaintiff's counsel did not provide or identify material he planned to use with the witness two days prior to the deposition, MTB's counsel had the right under Rule 30(j)(8) to discuss the material with the witness privately. Therefore, the Court should protect the witness from having to answer the questions asking what she discussed with counsel during the meeting regarding the documents during the deposition.

(*See R.* p. 58). Judge Murphy denied this Motion for Protective Order in her Sanctions Order discussed below.

¹ In MTB's Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions, Mr. Countryman described what happened in Ms. Gatling's deposition in his own words:

Upon commencing the deposition after lunch, Mr. Kahn showed the witness the Notice of Right to Cure letter for Ms. Richardson's case. I did not object since the witness was familiar with it. See pages 170 – 181 of transcr. of Ms. Gatling's deposition, Ex. 3 to the Motion for Sanctions. Mr. Kahn then showed the witness a document with which she was not familiar. I objected and indicated my intent to discuss it with her under Rule 30(j)(8).

At this point, Mr. Kahn provided me with the majority of material he planned to use with the witness. The deposition broke briefly during which time I reviewed the proposed exhibits with the witness. Stephanie Trotter, a principal of MTB who attended the deposition on behalf of MTB, attended the meeting too. Mr. Kahn then asked Ms. Gatling what we discussed in the private meeting. I objected on grounds of attorney-client privilege and instructed her not to answer.

(*See* March 1, 2019 MTB's Brief in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions, at 10).

3. Self Deposition

More than a week after Ms. Gatling's deposition, Mr. Kahn deposed Ms. Self. The deposition took place in Macon, Georgia, where Ms. Self lives and works as a legal assistant. Mr. Countryman represented Ms. Self and helped schedule the deposition. (*See R. pp. 275:25-276:10*). Ms. Self appeared voluntarily without a subpoena, which Mr. Kahn would have had to domesticate.

Minutes into the deposition, Mr. Kahn examined Ms. Self concerning one of the thousands of documents that had been produced in discovery. Citing Rule 30(j)(8), Mr. Countryman promptly indicated he needed to privately consult with Ms. Self:

MR. COUNTRYMAN: I'm going to have to talk to her about this. I don't think this was properly identified under 30(j)(8). . . .

Q: Did you see that sentence?

MR. COUNTRYMAN: And I'm going to tell her not to answer that before we discuss it.

MR. KAHN:

Q: Do you see that sentence?

MR. COUNTRYMAN: So don't answer that.

(*See R. p. 273:4-14*). After a short 2-3 minute conference between Mr. Countryman and Ms. Self, Mr. Kahn asked the witness what she had discussed with her attorney:

Q: All right. I want to -- the document that you walked out of the -- you walked out of the room with that document; right?

A: Right.

Q: And had a discussion with Mr. Countryman?

A: Yup.

MR. KAHN: I just -- I want to mark it as Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1. Let me just --
(HOA FEE PROPOSAL MARKED PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT NO. 1 FOR I.D.)

BY MR. KAHN:

Q: And what -- what did you all talk about?

MR. COUNTRYMAN: Don't answer that question. That's --

A: (Continuing) It's client privileged.

MR. COUNTRYMAN: -- privileged.

THE WITNESS: Right?

MR. COUNTRYMAN: I'm telling you not to answer it because it's attorney-client privileged.

THE WITNESS: Right.

MR. COUNTRYMAN: The document was not properly identified under Rule 30(j)(8), two days or more ahead of the deposition. And, Justin, we've talked about this issue at length. I sent you multiple letters on the issue. Providing a 67-page spreadsheet identifying probably a 100,000 documents, in my view, does not sufficiently identify this document under 30(j)(8).

(See R. pp. 274:11-275:13).

After Mr. Countryman had stated his position on the record concerning Richardson's failure to comply with Rule 30(j)(8), Mr. Kahn could have acted to make the deposition more efficient. As Mr. Countryman noted to the court below, "[a]t any time before or during the deposition, Mr. Kahn could have provided the (sic) all the documents to review with the witness at once." (See R. pp. 801). Mr. Kahn refused. Instead, over and over again, he repeatedly showed individual documents to the witness, and Mr. Countryman would have a very short (typically 2-3 minute) conference with the witness about them:

- (a) 12:35 – 12:37 to review deposition Exhibit 3 (see R. p. 357);
- (b) 12:45 – 12:48 to review deposition Exhibit 4 (see R. p.365);
- (c) 12:52 – 12:54 to review deposition Exhibit 5 (see R. p. 370);
- (d) 12:59 – 1:02 to review deposition Exhibit 6 (see R. p. 375);
- (e) 1:23 – 1:26 to review deposition Exhibit 8 (see R. p. 400);
- (f) 1:28 – 1:30 to review deposition Exhibit 9 (see R. p. 403);
- (g) 1:35 – 1:37 to review deposition Exhibit 10 (see R. p. 407-08);

- (h) 1:42 – 1:51 to review deposition Exhibit 11 (*see* R. p. 413);
- (i) 2:01 – 2:04 to review deposition Exhibit 12 (*see* R. p. 424);
- (j) 2:14 – 2:16 to review deposition Exhibit 13 (*see* R. p. 435);
- (k) 2:18 – 2:10 to review deposition Exhibit 14 (*see* R. p. 437-38);
- (l) 2:29 – 2:32 to review deposition Exhibit 15 (*see* R. p. 446);
- (m) 2:43 – 2:45 to review deposition Exhibit 16 (*see* R. p. 456-57).

On every occasion above, after the brief conference between Ms. Self and Mr. Countryman (her and MTB’s counsel), Mr. Kahn pointedly asked specifically what Ms. Self had discussed with Mr. Countryman. (*See* R. pp. 357:6-11, 365:15-18, 370:19-21, 375:14-16, 400:14-16; 403:8-10, 408:14-17, 413:10-13, 424:20-22, 435:19-21, 438:9-11, 447:1-7, and 457:12-14). On all but one of those occasions, Mr. Countryman instructed Ms. Self not to answer on the basis of attorney-client privilege and Rule 30(j)(8). (*See id.*).

The record plainly indicated that Mr. Countryman did not act to thwart or interfere with Mr. Kahn’s taking of Ms. Self’s deposition or attempt to limit his ability to engage in full and complete discovery. To the contrary, Ms. Self, MTB and Mr. Countryman had made numerous accommodations to Richardson’s counsel concerning Ms. Self’s deposition.

For example, they permitted Ms. Self’s appearance in Georgia without a properly domesticated subpoena. Additionally, Mr. Countryman allowed the deposition to go forward, despite the fact that the court reporter — who was from South Carolina — was unable to place the witness in Georgia under oath as South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 30(c) requires. *See* S.C. R. Civ. P. 30(c) (“The officer before whom the deposition is to be taken shall put the witness on oath”). In particular, Mr. Countryman “kindly” allowed a Georgia notary to swear in the witness:

An issue was -- or a question was raised by defense counsel, prior to the deposition starting, about the fact that the court reporter, who's been involved with many of the depositions in this case, is not a notary in the state of Georgia.

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