THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Maite D. Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2016-CP-18-1001  
Appellate Case No. 2019-000671

---

**RECEIVED**  
FEB 28 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

Tammy C. Richardson.....Respondent,

v.

Halcyon Real Estate Services, LLP and  
McCabe, Trotter & Beverly, P.C.

Of which McCabe, Trotter, & Beverly, P.C. is .....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

Justin S. Kahn  
PO Box 31397  
Charleston, South Carolina 29417  
843.577.2128

Mary Leigh Arnold  
749 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite B  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464  
843.971.6053  
**Attorneys for Respondent**

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

MTB did not argue the Discovery Sanctions Order involves the merits or affects a substantial right. Thus, it is not appealable and this appeal should be dismissed.

**C. Proper Path to Appeal Lies with a Separate Contempt Order Which MTB Did Not Obtain**

To challenge the specific rulings of discovery orders, the normal course is to refuse to comply, suffer contempt, and appeal from the contempt finding. *See e.g., Ex parte Whetstone*, 289 S.C. 580, 580, 347 S.E.2d 881, 881–82 (1986) (“An

---

<sup>4</sup> MTB argues, without any support, that this appeal “is an area of interest for the South Carolina Bar.” Appellant Br. p. 21.

order directing a party to participate in discovery is interlocutory and not directly appealable....He may either comply with the discovery order and waive any right to challenge it on appeal, or refuse to comply with the order and appeal after he is held in contempt for his failure to comply.”) (internal citations omitted). *Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266, 280–81, 762 S.E.2d 535, 543 (2014). “Contempt results from the willful disobedience of a court order....” *Spartanburg Buddhist Ctr. of S.C. v. Ork*, 417 S.C. 601, 606, 790 S.E.2d 430, 433 (Ct. App. 2016). In order to preserve the right to appeal a discovery order a party must refuse to comply with the order, be cited for contempt, and then appeal. *Id.* at 577.

As part of MTB’s prior Petition for Writ of *Certiorari* concerning the Discovery Sanctions Order at issue, the Supreme Court held that it is not proper to review the Discovery Sanctions Order. The Supreme Court cited various cases holding that the proper way to appeal a discovery order is to first be held in contempt and appeal that order. Appellate Case No. 2019-000675 Order dated August 2, 2019. (R. pp. 21-22).

MTB did not obtain a contempt order for failing to comply with the Discovery Sanctions Order. Instead, MTB complied, making this appeal moot.

MTB concedes there is no law that a “non-contempt monetary sanction constitutes an immediately appealable final order...” Appellant Br. p. 19. Instead, MTB suggests the Discovery Sanctions Order is like an order issued as a result of a merit hearing or in a contempt proceeding and this Court should consider federal circuit court of appeal decisions to determine that it is appealable. As discussed above, the Supreme Court makes clear that the procedure in South Carolina state court to appeal a discovery order is to disobey it, be held in contempt and then appeal that contempt order. “To challenge the specific rulings of the discovery orders, the normal course is to refuse to comply, suffer contempt, and appeal from the contempt finding.” *Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266, 280, 762 S.E.2d 535, 543 (2014).

MTB failed to follow the proper path to appeal the Discovery Sanctions Order by being held in contempt for failing to comply with it. Reference to what may be the procedure in federal circuit courts that exist under a different statutory scheme is neither relevant nor binding. Thus, the appeal is improper and should be dismissed.

#### **D. MTB's Compliance with Discovery Sanctions Order Makes Appeal Moot**

A party waives the right to challenge a discovery order on appeal if it complies with the order. *Tucker v. Honda of South Carolina Mfg., Inc.*, 354 S.C. 574, 577, 582 S.E.2d 405, 406 (2003). MTB chose to comply with the Discovery Sanctions Order and the depositions have gone forward.

As argued, in order to preserve the right to appeal a discovery order, a party must refuse to comply with the order, be cited for contempt and then appeal. *Id.* at 577. MTB does not contend that this is a matter “capable of repetition, but which usually becomes moot before it can be reviewed.” *S.C. Dep't. of Mental Health v. State*, 301 S.C. 75, 76, 390 S.E.2d 185, 185 (1990).

MTB failed to follow the “proper” path to appeal. As such, the appeal should be dismissed as moot.

#### **E. MTB Offers a Unique and Unsupported Argument To Justify Its Improper Conduct**

As to documents previously produced or identified in discovery, MTB argues it was completely proper to engage in off-the-record private conferences with a witness during a deposition because deposing counsel did not explicitly *reproduce or identify the exact* documents to be used during a witness deposition at least 2 days before the deposition. MTB has never cited any rule or case law

that requires one produce the *exact* documents to be used in a deposition prior to the deposition *when the documents to be used have been previously produced or identified in discovery*. Richardson argued this to the Court:

Mr. Countryman is not complaining that I gave him documents that he had never seen before or that were never identified. He is complaining I didn't provide him with *the exact documents* that I might use in the deposition. There's no rule that requires that.

Transcript Hearing March 4, 2019, p. 87, lines 1-5 (emphasis added).

(R. p. 1006, lines 1-5).

It was argued that MTB's position was unsupported by case law or the rules. Transcript Hearing March 4, 2019, pp. 82, lines 14-19., (R. p. 1001, lines 14-19).

MTB made the unsupported argument to the Court that:

If the lawyer deposing the witness does not produce or identify those documents *that he's going to use in the deposition* two days ahead of time, the lawyer for the witness has the right to briefly discuss the documents privately with the witness.

Transcript Hearing March 4, 2019, p. 79, lines 20-24 (emphasis added).

(R., p. 998, lines 20-24).

As to documents to be used in a deposition, MTB argues the attorney defending the deposition is entitled to know *exactly* "what you're going to use

with the witness” and that the failure to provide the *exact* documents to be used creates surprise. Transcript Hearing March 4, 2019, p. 81, 12-15., (R. p. 1000, lines 12-15).

The position is meritless and unsupported by Supreme Court case law or any rule. Similarly, when one questions a witness at trial, there is no requirement that the attorney provide *the exact* list of documents to be used with *that witness* ahead of time. MTB’s argument should be disregarded.

#### **F. MTB Cannot Show Trial Court Abused Discretion**

MTB has not articulated any prejudice to the witness or MTB or how the Court’s ruling resulted in prejudice. There is none. This is fatal to MTB’s appeal as prejudice must be shown to prove an abuse of discretion.

There is no abuse of discretion because the trial court correctly determined it is improper for an attorney to meet with a witness in the middle of a deposition to have off-the-record discussions about previously produced documents without any intent of deciding whether to assert a privilege. Further the trial court correctly held, if there is a discussion, deposing counsel is specifically allowed to inquire about the discussion and the witness must respond accordingly. The trial court properly determined it is not proper for the

attorney to instruct the witness not to answer or refuse to state what was discussed.

The Supreme Court explained this long ago.

Rule 30(j), SCRCF, makes clear that a deposition's beginning signals the end of a witness's preparation. Once a deposition begins, an attorney and a client may have an off-the-record conference only when deciding whether to assert a privilege or to discuss a previously undisclosed document. *See* Rule 30(j)(5), SCRCF; Rule 30(j)(8), SCRCF. Before beginning such a conference, the deponent's attorney should note for the record that a break is needed to discuss the possible assertion of a privilege or a newly produced document. After any such conference, the conferencing attorney should state on the record why the conference occurred and the decision reached. If the party decides to assert a privilege, the basis for the privilege should be clearly stated. Whether or not a privilege is asserted, deposing counsel may inquire on the record into the subject of the conference to determine if there has been any witness coaching. *See* Rule 30(j)(6), SCRCF. Conferences called to assist a client in framing an answer, to calm down a nervous client, or to interrupt the flow of a deposition are improper and warrant sanctions.

Off-the-record conferences not specifically permitted by the rule are not allowed whether they are called by the deponent's attorney or the deponent. "There is simply no qualitative distinction between private conferences initiated by a lawyer and those initiated by a witness. Neither should occur." *Hall*, 150 F.R.D. at 528. According to our rule, even during breaks in the deposition such as a lunch or overnight break, witnesses and their counsel cannot talk substantively

about prior or future testimony in the deposition. *See* Rule 30(j)(5), SCRCP.

*In re Anonymous Member of S.C. Bar*, 346 S.C. 177, 190–91, 552 S.E.2d 10, 16–17 (2001).

As stated in the 2000 note to SCRCP, Rule 30(j) “The intent of the amendment is to help eliminate conduct tending to interfere with or impede depositions.”

As the trial court’s order has reasonable factual support, MTB cannot meet its burden of showing abuse of discretion. The trial court cited facts showing improper obstructive behavior occurred during the depositions. Sanctions Order pp. 1, 4-8 citing the conduct stated in Plaintiff’s Memorandum. (R. p. 8 and pp. 11-15).

MTB does not claim that during the deposition, when a document was provided to the witness it was not contemporaneously provided to MTB counsel as required. Instead, MTB seeks to add a requirement not appearing in the language of the rule and misinterpret existing language. MTB claims that a deposing attorney must *specifically identify and produce* each document to be used in a deposition of a witness two days before even when the documents have been previously produced or identified in discovery.

No rule requires the disclosure of attorney work-product like listing the specific documents to be used in a deposition ahead of time. Further, depending on what takes place at a deposition, a witness may say something that makes many documents thought to be needed unnecessary or just the opposite. A witness may testify unexpectedly and there be a need to use previously produced documents in a way not anticipated prior to the deposition.

Instead of arguing the trial court's decision was without reasonable factual support, MTB incorrectly reargues that Rule 30(j)(8) requires *that even as to previously produced documents*, every single document that is to be used in the deposition be produced to the attorney on the other side at least two days before the deposition begins. If the documents are not specifically reproduced or identified for the deposition, MTB argues counsel can stop the deposition and engage in private off-the-record discussions with the witness that have nothing to do with deciding whether to assert a privilege without having to disclose what took place. No law supports that. Judge Murphy correctly analyzed the facts and law in the reasoned order:

During a deposition, the only permissible discussion between counsel and a witness that may take place if it does not involve deciding whether to assert privilege is to discuss a previously undisclosed document. *In re Anonymous Member of S.C. Bar*, at 190-191, 16.

(emphasis added). The law is clear: Conferences called to assist a witness in framing an answer, to calm down a nervous client, or to interrupt the flow of a deposition are improper and warrant sanctions. *In re Anonymous Member of S.C. Bar*, at 191, 17. If there is a permissible basis for meeting with the witness, “[b]efore beginning such a conference, the deponent’s attorney should note for the record that a break is needed to discuss the possible assertion of a privilege or a newly produced document.” *In re Anonymous Member of S.C. Bar*, at 191, 16. When there is an off-the-record conference, whether or not a privilege is asserted, deposing counsel may inquire on the record into the subject of the conference to determine if there has been any witness coaching. *In re Anonymous Member of S.C. Bar*, at 191, 16. (R. p. 10).

Given the clear pronouncement of the Supreme Court and the fact that improper discussions about previously produced documents took place with subsequent instructions preventing legitimate inquiry, the Discovery Sanctions Order was not an abuse of discretion. It was not abuse of discretion to determine the conduct of MTB’s counsel was improper as it impaired or impeded the deposition in violation of the law and Rules.

#### **G. Trial Court Properly Sanctioned Repeated Deposition Misconduct**

As argued above, the trial court properly held that the impermissible conduct warranted sanctions because MTB counsel repeatedly failed to state an approved basis for stopping the deposition to have an off-the-record discussion *before* beginning the conference as required. The only proper basis of having a

conference is limited to discussing whether to assert a privilege or review a newly produced document. There was no discussion about asserting a privilege or to discuss a previously unproduced document. *See e.g.* Self Dep. p. 94, p. 206. (R. pp. 346 and 458).

Thus, MTB has not shown that the trial court abused its discretion because facts exist to support the decision to impose sanctions.

#### **H. Court Properly Determined Improper Witness Coaching Occurred**

Based on the facts presented, the trial court properly determined that improper witness coaching occurred by MTB Counsel and Stephanie Trotter, Esq. which, in part, resulted in changed testimony. *See e.g.* Order p. 5. (R. p. 12).

An example of the effects of the improper off-the-record discussions and witness coaching involve the change in testimony of Gatling after meeting with defense counsel and Stephanie Trotter, Esq. (Trotter) of MTB who attended Gatling's deposition. Prior to an off the record meeting, as to the MTB collection process, Gatling testified she printed documents, including various parts of a form letter package and "would pull two of the pages, the notice of lien and the witness page" and put those in a box with others for Trotter to review. Dep. Gatling p. 175, 17-23; p. 176, 2-6. After improperly meeting with MTB counsel and Trotter to discuss documents, the witness returned and testified she had suddenly "misremembered" the way documents were put in the box for the MTB attorney Trotter to sign. Gatling Dep. pp. 199-200. The impropriety of the meetings

was noted on the record. *See. e.g.* Gatling Dep. pp. 182-187. When Plaintiff's counsel asked what was discussed, the witness was improperly instructed not to answer by MTB counsel.

To justify the prohibited conduct, MTB makes unsupported arguments like — a witness will be better prepared to answer questions only after meeting with counsel to make the witness “familiar with the document.” Appellant Brief, p. 27. MTB's other unsupported and not previously made arguments include meeting with the witness was needed to “make sure they were adequately prepared to give complete and truthful testimony...” Appellant Brief, p. 29. These excuses for meetings are not in line with how the Supreme Court views the role of an attorney and witness deposition testimony.

The underlying purpose of a deposition is to find out what a witness saw, heard, or did - what the witness thinks. A deposition is meant to be a question-and-answer conversation between the deposing lawyer and the witness.

*In Re Anonymous* at 17.

MTB's repeated and unsupported suggestion is that it is unfair to put the witness in the position of having to answer questions about documents she created without input from counsel in the middle of the deposition or before because it “places an impossible burden on a party preparing the witness...” Appellant Brief, p. 27.

MTB fails to state any basis as to why an off-the-record discussion about a form document created, printed and sent by that witness which was produced in discovery by MTB was needed. The reasons stated for the first time on appeal, including to increase the witness' knowledge about such a document, are without merit.

Further, MTB is for the first time on appeal arguing against precedent by suggesting that it is for the attorney to help formulate answers based on documents previously produced and created by the witness. MTB ignores the simple truth as stated by the Supreme Court in *In Re Anonymous* at 192, 17:

The witness comes to the deposition to testify, not to indulge in a parody of Charlie McCarthy, with lawyers coaching or bending the witness's words to mold a legally convenient record. It is the witness - not the lawyer - who is the witness.

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